PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION AGENCY SAFTEY PLAN (PTASP) FOR THE CITIES OF FARGO, ND MOORHEAD, MN

Prepared by: Jordan Smith METRO TRANSIT GARAGE, 650 23rd St. N. Fargo, ND 58102

Contents

TRANSIT AGENCY INFORMATION	3
ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE AND SYSTEM SAFETY RESPONSIBILITIES	3
PLAN DEVELOPMENT, APPROVAL AND UPDATES	5
ACTIVITY LOG	6
SAFETY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES	7
1.1 COMMITMENT TO SAFETY	7
1.2 ANNUAL PTASP REVIEW AND UPDATE	7
1.3 SAFETY PROMOTION, CULTURE AND TRAINING	8
1.4 SAFETY CULTURE	8
1.5 TRAINING	8
SAFETY RISK MANAGEMENT	10
2.1 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION	10
2.1 NON-PUNITIVE REPORTING POLICY	10
2.2 RISK ASSESSMENT	11
2.3 RISK MITIGATION	11
2.4 PRIORITIZE SAFETY RISKS	11
2.5 SAFETY ASSURANCE	11
SAFETY PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND MEASUREMENT	12
3.1 MONITORING THE SYSTEM FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROCEDURES FOR OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE	12
3.2 MONITORING OPERATIONS TO IDENTIFY ANY SAFETY RISK MITIGATIONS THAT MAY BE	
INEFFECTIVE, INAPPROPRIATE, OR WERE NOT IMPLEMENTED AS INTENDED	12
3.3 INVESTIGATIONS OF SAFETY EVENTS TO IDENTIFY CAUSAL FACTORS	13
3.4 MONITORING INFORMATION REPORTED THROUGH THE INTERNAL SAFETY REPORTING PROGRA	AM 13
3.5 SAFETY COMMUNICATION	13
DEFINING SAFETY GOALS AND OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES	14
4.1 DEFINING SAFETY PERFORMANCE MEASURES	14
4.2 METRICS	15
4.3 TARGETS	15
4.4 INTEGRATING RESULTS INTO AGENCY DECISION-MAKING PROCESS	16

	4.5 SUSTAINING A SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTE
	SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION
LAN17	5.1 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN THE SAFETY
	5.2 COMMONLY USED ACRONYMS

TRANSIT AGENCY INFORMATION

Transit Agency Name	City of Fargo / City of Moorhead (jointly operating as MATBUS)
Transit Agency Address	Metro Transit Garage, 650 23 rd St N Fargo, ND 58102
Name and Title of Accountable Executive	Julie Bommelman, Fargo Transit Director / Dan Mahli, Moorhead Acting City Manager
Name of Chief Safety Officer(s) or SMS Executives	Jordan Smith, Fargo Fleet and Facilities Manager / Lori Van Beek, Moorhead Transit Manager
Mode(s) of Service Covered by This Plan	Fixed Route; Paratransit
List of All FTA Funding Types	5307, 5310, 5339
Mode(s) of Service Provided by the Transit Agency (Directly operated or contracted service)	Modes: Fixed Route and Paratransit. The Cities of Fargo, ND and Moorhead, MN use contracted labor to operate the revenue vehicles for both modes.
Does the agency provide transit service on behalf of another transit agency?	The City of Fargo and City of Moorhead have a Joint Powers Agreement (JPA) for the operation of public transit in the metropolitan area. Under that agreement, the City of Fargo provides staff for building maintenance, vehicle maintenance, Fixed Route dispatch, mobility management, and Paratransit Reservationists, with the City of Moorhead paying a portion based on cost-sharing formulas in the JPA. The City of Fargo and the City of Moorhead jointly own the Metro Transit Garage where vehicles are stored, fueled and maintained and where administrative offices are located for City and contract staff. Fargo and Moorhead together select a contracted operator, but have separate contracts with the operator. Fixed Route vehicles are owned by the individual cities. Paratransit vehicles are owned by the individual cities; however, Moorhead leases their vehicles to Fargo for operation of the metro Paratransit system. The City of Fargo owns and operates the Ground Transportation Center (GTC) which acts as the main transfer facility for several routes from Fargo and Moorhead; there are also staff members located at the GTC. Moorhead cost shares in the GTC Operations.

ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE AND SYSTEM SAFETY RESPONSIBILITIES

CITY OF FARGO	The Transit Director serves as the City of Fargo Transit Accountable			
Accountable Executive	Executive and the City Manager serves as the City of Moorhead			
Julie Bommelman	Accountable Executive with the following authorities, accountabilities and			
	responsibilities under this plan:			
CITY OF MOORHEAD Accountable Executive Dan Mahli	 Controls and directs human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain the PTASP and SMS. Designates an adequately trained Chief Safety Officer who is a direct report. 			

	 Ensures that City of Fargo SMS is effectively implemented.
	 Ensures action is taken to address substandard performance in SMS.
	Assumes ultimate responsibility for carrying out City of Fargo and City of Macrhood DTASE and SMS
	City of Moornead PTASP and SMS.
	Management Plan.
CITY OF FARGO	The Fargo Accountable Executive designates the Fleet and Facilities
Chief Safety Officer Jordan Smith	Manager as the Chief Safety Officer. The Moorhead Accountable Executive designates the Moorhead Transit Manager as the Chief Safety Officer. The Chief Safety Officer has the following authorities, accountabilities and
CITY OF MOORHEAD	responsibilities under this plan:
Chief Safety Officer	 Develops the PTASP and SMS policies and procedures
Lori Van Beek	 Ensures and oversees day-to-day implementation and operation of the SMS.
	 Chairs the Safety Committee. Coordinates the activities of the committee
	- Establishes and maintains the Safety Event Log to monitor and
	- Maintains and distributes minutes of committee meetings
	Advises the Accountable Executive on SMS progress and status.
	Identifies substandard performance in the SMS and develops action
	plans for approval by the Accountable Executive.
	Ensures policies are consistent with safety objectives Dravides Sefety Disk Management expertise and supports other
	Provides Salely Risk Management expense and supports other personnel who conduct and oversee Safety Assurance activities
Agency Leadership and	Agency Leadership and Management also have authorities and
Management	responsibilities for day-to-day SMS implementation and operation of the
	SMS under this plan. Agency Leadership and Management include:
	Fargo Assistant Transit Director Moorboad Transit Manager
	Information Industry Manager (Contracted)
	Driver Services Operations Manager (Contracted) Driver Services Operations Manager (Contracted)
	Driver Services Safety Manager (Contracted)
	 Operations managers and supervisors
	Leadership and Management personnel have the following authorities, accountabilities and responsibilities:
	 Participate as members of the Safety Committee (operations
	managers and supervisors will be rotated through the Safety
	Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent
	Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members)
	Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members)Complete training on SMS and PTASP elements.
	 Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members) Complete training on SMS and PTASP elements. Oversee day-to-day operations of the SMS in their departments. Modify polices in their departments consistent with implementation
	 Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members) Complete training on SMS and PTASP elements. Oversee day-to-day operations of the SMS in their departments. Modify polices in their departments consistent with implementation of the SMS, as necessary Provide subject matter expertise to support implementation of the SMS.
	 Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members) Complete training on SMS and PTASP elements. Oversee day-to-day operations of the SMS in their departments. Modify polices in their departments consistent with implementation of the SMS, as necessary Provide subject matter expertise to support implementation of the SMS as requested by the Accountable Executive or the Chief Safety
	 Committee on a two-year term and other positions are permanent members) Complete training on SMS and PTASP elements. Oversee day-to-day operations of the SMS in their departments. Modify polices in their departments consistent with implementation of the SMS, as necessary Provide subject matter expertise to support implementation of the SMS as requested by the Accountable Executive or the Chief Safety Officer, including SRM activities, investigation of safety events,

Key Staff and Activities	City of Fargo and City of Moorhead Transit use the Safety Committee, as			
	well as the monthly Drivers' Meeting and weekly Team Meeting, to support			
	its SMS and safety programs:			
	 Safety Committee: Any safety hazard reported will be jointly 			
	evaluated by the Safety Committee and the Chief Safety Officer			
	during the Safety Committee Meeting. The Safety Committee is			
	made up of the following members:			
	 Fargo and Moorhead Chief Safety Officers (Permanent 			
	Members)			
	 City of Fargo Operations Supervisor (Permanent Member) 			
	 Driver Services Safety Manager (Permanent Member) 			
	 Valley Senior Services Transportation Manager (Permanent 			
	Member)			
	 City of Fargo Dispatcher (Two-Year Term) 			
	 Maintenance Shop Supervisor (Two-Year Term) 			
	 Maintenance Shop Building Supervisor (Two-Year Term) 			
	- Bus Operator (Two-Year Term)			
	Safety Committee will meet bimonthly to review issues and make			
	recommendations to improve safety.			
	- Drivers' Meetings: A permanent agenda item in all monthly			
	Drivers' Meetings is dedicated to safety. Safety issues are			
	discussed and documented.			
	- All Staff Team Meetings: Hazard reports and mitigations will be			
	shared, safety topics will be brought up for open discussion,			
	further feedback solicited, and hazard self-reporting further			
	encouraged. Information discussed in these meetings will be			
	documented.			
Contracted Agencies	Valley Senior Services (Metro Senior Ride)			
Covered under this	Valley Senior Services operates a transportation service call Metro			
Plan	Senior Ride. These services are designed for people age 60 and			
	older. The City of Moorhead leases vehicles to Valley Senior			
	Services to assist them in providing rides for the elderly.			

PLAN DEVELOPMENT, APPROVAL AND UPDATES

Name of Person Who Drafted This Plan	Jordan Smith, Fleet and Facilities Manager			
CITY OF FARGO	Signature	Title	Date	
Accountable Executive		Transit Director		
CITY OF FARGO Approval by Proper	Signature	Title	Date of Approval	
Authority				
	Relevant Documentation (title and location)			

CITY OF MOORHEAD Signature by the	Signature	Title	Date
Accountable Executive		City Manager	
CITY OF MOORHEAD Approval by Proper	Signature	Title	Date of Approval
Authority		Mayor	
	Relevant Documentation (title and location)		
	(Insert City Council Resolution Number)		

ACTIVITY LOG

City of Fargo and City of Moorhead Transit Safety Plan

Date	Activity (Review/Update/Addendum/ Adoption/Distribution)	Authorizing Person (Signature)	Remarks
11/18/2020	MAT Coordinating Board – Review and Recommend Adoption of Safety Plan to Fargo City Commission and Moorhead City Council		
11/30/2020	Fargo City Commission - Adoption of Plan		
12/10/2020	Metropolitan Council of Governments (MPO) Transportation Technical Committee - Review and Recommend Approval of Safety Plan to Policy Board		
12/14/2020	Moorhead City Council - Adoption of Plan		Resolution #2020-1214-P
12/17/2020	Metropolitan Council of Government (MPO) Policy Board - Approval of Plan		
3/01/2021	Revision	Jordan Smith	Removed Assistant Transit Director, Contractor GM and Road Supervisor from Safety Committee. Added Valley Senior Services

Transportation Manager.
Add Valley Senior Services as Contracted Agencies Covered Under this Plan

SAFETY POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

1.1 COMMITMENT TO SAFETY

We are committed to Safety Management as a systematic and comprehensive approach to identify safety hazards and risks associated with transit system operations and related maintenance activities. We have adopted a Safety Management System (SMS) framework as an explicit element of the agency's responsibility by establishing safety policy; identifying hazards and controlling risks; goal setting, planning and measuring performance. We have adopted SMS as means by which to foster agency-wide support for transit safety by establishing a culture where management is held accountable for safety and everyone in the organization takes an active role in securing transit safety.

To ensure transit safety and in order to comply with Federal Transit Administration (FTA) requirements, we have developed and adopted this Public Transit Agency Safety Plan (PTASP) to comply with FTA regulations established by section 5329(d) of the Moving Ahead for Progress in the 21st Century (MAP-21) Act.

The Fargo Transit Director, Moorhead City Manager, Metropolitan Council of Governments and City of Fargo Commission/City of Moorhead Council, in cooperation with the North Dakota Department of Transportation and Minnesota Department of Transportation, have reviewed the PTASP and assures that the content has met the requirements of Section 5329 (d) of MAP-21 through the establishment of a comprehensive Safety Management System (SMS) framework. Fundamental safety beliefs guiding our approach include:

- Safety is a core business value
- Safety excellence is a key component of our mission
- Safety is a source of our competitive advantage; our business will be strengthened by making safety excellence an integral part of all our public transportation activities; and
- Accidents and serious incidents are preventable; they are often preceded by precursors (events, behavior, and conditions) that can be identified, assessed and mitigated.

Basic elements of our safety approach include:

- Top Management Commitment to Safe Operations
- Responsibility and Accountability of all Employees
- Clearly Communicate Safety Goals
- Safety Assurance and Performance Measurement for Improvement

1.2 ANNUAL PTASP REVIEW AND UPDATE

Our Fargo-Moorhead management will review the PTASP annually, update the document as necessary and implement the changes within a timeframe that will allow the agency to timely submit the annual self-certification of compliance to the Federal Transit Administration (FTA). Annual self-certification will consist

of the Fargo Transit Director and Moorhead City Manager signing and dating this document and submitting to FTA for review and approval. The annual review of the PTASP will be conducted by the agency as part of the PTASP review to be conducted no later than **June 30**th of each calendar year. Necessary updates outside the annual update window will be handled as PTASP addendums which will be incorporated in the body of the PTASP. Reviews of the PTASP by the local agency, any subsequent updates and addendums, adoption and distribution activities will be documented in the PTASP Document Activity Log.

1.3 SAFETY PROMOTION, CULTURE AND TRAINING

We believe safety promotion is critical to the success of SMS by ensuring that the entire organization fully understands and trusts the SMS policies, procedures and structure. It involves establishing a culture that recognizes safety as a core value, training employees in safety principles and allowing open communications of safety issues.

1.4 SAFETY CULTURE

Positive safety culture must be generated from the top-down. The actions, attitudes and decisions at the policy-making level must demonstrate a genuine commitment to safety. Safety must be recognized as the responsibility each employee with the ultimate responsibility for safety resting with the Fargo Transit Director and Moorhead City Manager. Employees must trust that they will have management support for decisions made in the interest of safety while recognizing that intentional breaches of safety will not be tolerated.

The primary goal of safety promotion is to develop a positive safety culture that allows SMS to succeed. A positive safety culture is defined as one which is:

- An Informed Culture
 - o Employees understand the hazards and risks involved in their areas of operation
 - Employees are provided with the necessary knowledge, training and resources
 - o Employees work continuously to identify and overcome threats to safety
- A Just Culture
 - Employees know and agree on what is acceptable and unacceptable behavior
 - Human errors must be understood but negligence and willful violations cannot be tolerated
- A Reporting Culture
 - Employees are encouraged to voice safety concerns and to share critical safety information without the threat of punitive action
 - When safety concerns are reported they are analyzed and appropriate action is taken
- A Learning Culture
 - o Learning is valued as a lifetime process beyond basic skills training
 - Employees are encouraged to develop and apply their own skills and knowledge to enhance safety
 - Employees are updated on safety issues by management and safety reports are fed back to staff so that everyone learns the pertinent lessons

1.5 TRAINING

During the initial implementation of the SMS, specific training will be required for all employees, including contract staff, to explain the agency's safety culture and describe how SMS works. The Safety Officer is the resource person for providing a corporate perspective on our approach to safety management. Once the SMS is implemented, safety training needs will depend on the safety responsibilities of the individual staff members and the nature of tasks performed.

- Level One Training
 - Initial Safety Training for All Staff

- Basic Principles of safety management including the integrated nature of SMS, risk management, safety culture, etc.
- Corporate safety philosophy, safety goals and objectives, safety policy and safety standards
- Importance of complying with the safety policy and SMS procedures, and the approach to disciplinary actions for different safety issues
- Organizational structure, roles and responsibilities of staff in relation to safety
- Current safety record, including areas of weakness
- Reporting accidents, incidents and perceived hazards
- Feedback and communication methods for the dissemination of safety information
- Safety promotion and information dissemination
- Level Two Training
 - Safety Training for Operations Personnel In Addition to Level One Training
 - Unique hazards facing operational personnel
 - Seasonal safety hazards and procedures
 - Procedures for hazard reporting
 - Procedures for reporting accidents and incidents
 - Emergency procedures

• Level Three Training

- Safety training program for all employees and contractors directly responsible for safety.
 - Bus vehicle operators (Driver Training Performed by Driver Services Contractor)
 - Dispatchers
 - Maintenance technicians
 - Managers and supervisors
 - Leadership and Executive Management
 - Chief Safety Officers

Resources will be dedicated to conduct a comprehensive safety training program, as well as training on SMS roles and responsibilities. The scope of the safety training, including annual refresher training, is appropriate to each employee's individual safety-related job responsibilities and their role in the SMS.

Operations safety-related skill training may include the following:

The following training is performed by the Driver Services Contractor. Reference Exhibit A

- · New-hire bus vehicle operator classroom and hands-on skill training
- Bus operator refresher training
- Bus operator retraining (recertification or return to work)
- · Classroom and on-the-job training for operations supervisors and managers
- · Accident investigation training for operations supervisors and managers

Vehicle maintenance safety-related skill training includes the following:

The following training is performed by the City of Fargo

- Ongoing vehicle maintenance technician skill training
- Ongoing skill training for vehicle maintenance supervisors

- · Accident investigation training for vehicle maintenance supervisors
- Ongoing hazardous material training for vehicle maintenance technicians and supervisors
- Training provided by vendors.

SAFETY RISK MANAGEMENT

2.1 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION

Establishing effective hazard identification programs is fundamental to safety management. Hazard identification can be reactive or proactive in nature. Occurrence reporting, incident investigation and trend monitoring are essentially reactive. Other hazard identification methods actively seek feedback by observing and analyzing day-to-day operations. Common hazard identification activities include:

- Safety assessments
- Trend monitoring
- Hazard and incident reporting
- Safety surveys
- Safety audits
- Evaluation of customer suggestions and complaints

The number of near-miss incidents, known as precursors, is significantly greater than the number of accidents for comparable types of events. The practice of reporting and learning from accident precursors is a valuable complement to other hazard identification practices. To be successful, hazard identification must take place within a non-punitive and just safety culture. We will employ systematic safety improvements by discovering and learning of potential weaknesses in the system's safety. We will utilize the FTA's Resource Library to help identify potential sources of hazard information.

The Chief Safety Officer(s) or their designee is responsible for the risk assessment. The Chief Safety Officers may conduct further analyses of hazards and consequences to collect information and identify additional consequences and to inform which hazards should be prioritized for safety risk assessment.

Safety risks are recorded and tracked in SharePoint. This will allow for any recorded safety risks to be searched and reports to be generated when necessary.

2.1 NON-PUNITIVE REPORTING POLICY

We are committed to the safest transit operating standards possible. To achieve this, it is imperative that we have uninhibited reporting of all incidents and occurrences which may compromise the sage conduct of our operations. To this end, every employee is responsible for the communication of any information that may affect the integrity of transit safety. Such communication must be completely free of any form of reprisal.

We will not take disciplinary action against any employee who discloses an incident or occurrence involving transit safety. This policy shall not apply to information we receive from a source other than the employee, or which involves an illegal act, or deliberate or willful disregard of safety regulations or procedures.

The primary responsibility for transit safety rests with the Transit Operator and Safety Officers, however transit safety is everyone's concern.

Our method of collection, recording and disseminating information from transit safety reports, has been developed to protect the identity of any employee who provides transit safety information. We urge all staff to practice the SMS transit safety procedures outlined in the PTASP to help us become a leader in providing transit riders and employees with the highest level of transit safety.

2.2 RISK ASSESSMENT

Once hazards have been identified, we will conduct an assessment to determine their potential consequences. Factors to be considered are the likelihood of the occurrence, the severity of the consequences should there be an occurrence and the level of exposure to the hazard. We will assess risks subjectively be experiences personnel using a Risk Assessment Matrix (RAM). We will use the RAM to measure the level of safety risk in terms of severity and likelihood. This will allow us to combine the assessment of severity and likelihood to determine the overall risk rating of the potential consequence of the hazard.

Results of the risk assessment process will help determine whether the risk is being appropriately managed or controlled. If the risks are acceptable, the hazard will simply need monitoring. If the risks are unacceptable, steps will be taken to lower the risk to an acceptable or tolerable level, or to remove or avoid the hazard.

2.3 RISK MITIGATION

The assessment process may indicate that certain hazards have an acceptable level of risk, while others require mitigation to an acceptable or tolerable level. The level of risk can be lowered by reducing the severity of the potential consequences, by reducing the likelihood of occurrence and/or by reducing the expose to that risk. In general, we will take the following safety actions to mitigate risk. These actions can be categorized into three broad categories, including:

• Physical Defense

 These include objects and technologies that are engineered to discourage, or warn against, or prevent inappropriate action or mitigate the consequences of events. (e.g. traffic control devices, fences, safety restraining systems)

• Administrative Defenses

- These include procedures and practices that mitigate the likelihood of an accident or incident. (e.g. safety regulations, standard operating procedures, supervision inspection, training)
- Behavioral Defenses
 - These include behavioral interventions through education and public awareness campaigns aimed at reducing risky and reckless behavior of motorists, passengers and pedestrians; factors outside the control of our agency.

2.4 PRIORITIZE SAFETY RISKS

Once hazards have been identified and risk levels assessed, we will prioritize safety risks. A Prioritized Safety Risk Log will be used to organize the system safety risks. The Prioritized Safety Risk Log will identify the priority level for safety risks, a description of the risk, planned mitigation strategies to address the risk, the outcome of the planned mitigation strategies, responsible staff, timeline of the planned mitigation strategies and the status of the prioritized safety risk. We will update the Prioritized Safety Risk Log to ensure continual progress towards risk reduction.

2.5 SAFETY ASSURANCE

Safety Assurance provides the necessary feedback to ensure that the SMS is functioning and we are meeting or exceeding its safety objectives. Safety assurance requires a clear understanding of how safety performance will be evaluated and what metrics will be used to assess system safety and determine if the safety management system is working properly. Having decided on the metrics by which success will be

measured; safety management requires embedding these metrics in the organizational culture and encouraging their use for ongoing performance improvement.

SAFETY PERFORMANCE MONITORING AND MEASUREMENT

3.1 MONITORING THE SYSTEM FOR COMPLIANCE WITH PROCEDURES FOR OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE

We have many processes in place to monitor our entire transit system for compliance with operations and maintenance procedures including:

- Safety audits,
- Informal inspections,
- Regular review of onboard camera footage to assess drivers and specific incidents,
- Safety surveys,
- Investigation of safety occurrences,
- Safety review prior to the launch or modification of any facet of service,
- Daily data gathering and monitoring of data related to the delivery of service, and
- Regular vehicle inspections and preventative maintenance.

Results from the above processes are compared against recent performance trends periodically by the Chief Safety Officers to determine where action needs to be taken. The Chief Safety Officers enter any identified non-compliant or ineffective activities, including mitigations, into the tracking system in SharePoint for reevaluation by the Safety Committee.

3.2 MONITORING OPERATIONS TO IDENTIFY ANY SAFETY RISK MITIGATIONS THAT MAY BE INEFFECTIVE, INAPPROPRIATE, OR WERE NOT IMPLEMENTED AS INTENDED

We monitor safety risk mitigations to determine if they have been implemented and are effective, appropriate, and working as intended. The Chief Safety Officers maintain a list of safety risk mitigations. The mechanism for monitoring safety risk mitigations varies depending on the mitigation

The Chief Safety Officers establish one or more mechanisms for monitoring safety risk mitigations as part of the mitigation implementation process and assigns monitoring activities to the appropriate director, manager, or supervisor. These monitoring mechanisms may include tracking a specific metric on daily, weekly, or monthly logs or reports; conducting job performance observations; or other activities. The Chief Safety Officer will endeavor to make use of existing processes and activities before assigning new information collection activities.

The Chief Safety Officers and Safety Committee review the performance of individual safety risk mitigations during periodic Safety Committee meetings, based on the reporting schedule determined for each mitigation, and determine if a specific safety risk mitigation is not implemented or performing as intended. If the mitigation is not implemented or performing as intended, the Safety Committee will propose a course of action to modify the mitigation or take other action to manage the safety risk. The Chief Safety Officers will approve or modify this proposed course of action and oversee its execution.

The Chief Safety Officers and Safety Committee also monitor operations on a large scale to identify mitigations that may be ineffective, inappropriate, or not implemented as intended by:

- Reviewing results from accident, incident, and occurrence investigations;
- Monitoring employee safety reporting;
- Reviewing results of internal safety audits and inspections; and

• Analyzing operational and safety data to identify emerging safety concerns. The Chief Safety Officers work with the Safety Committee and Accountable Executive to carry out and document all monitoring activities.

3.3 INVESTIGATIONS OF SAFETY EVENTS TO IDENTIFY CAUSAL FACTORS

We maintain documented procedures for conducting safety investigations of events (accidents, incidents, and occurrences, as defined by FTA) to find causal and contributing factors and review the existing mitigations in place at the time of the event. These procedures also reflect all traffic safety reporting and investigation requirements established by the state of North Dakota and Minnesota Department of Motor Vehicles.

The Chief Safety Officers maintain all documentation of investigation policies, processes, forms, checklists, activities, and results. An investigation report is prepared and sent to the Safety Committee for integration into their analysis of the event.

- The accident was preventable or non-preventable;
- Personnel require discipline or retraining;
- The causal factor(s) indicate(s) that a safety hazard contributed to or was present during the event; and
- The accident appears to involve underlying organizational causal factors beyond just individual employee behavior.

3.4 MONITORING INFORMATION REPORTED THROUGH THE INTERNAL SAFETY REPORTING PROGRAM

The Chief Safety Officers and Safety Committee routinely review safety data captured in employee safety reports, safety meeting minutes, customer complaints, and other safety communication channels. When necessary, the Chief Safety Officers and Safety Committee ensure that the concerns are investigated or analyzed through the Safety Risk Mitigation (SRM)process.

The Chief Safety Officers and Safety Committee also review internal and external reviews, including audits and assessments, with findings concerning safety performance, compliance with operations and maintenance procedures, or the effectiveness of safety risk mitigations.

3.5 SAFETY COMMUNICATION

The Chief Safety Officers coordinate the safety communication activities for the SMS. Activities focus on the three categories of communication activity established in 49 CFR Part 673 (Part 673):

• Communicating safety and safety performance information throughout the agency: Communicates information on safety and safety performance monthly during all regular Team Meetings and contractor Driver Safety Meetings. A permanent agenda item in all monthly Driver Safety Meetings dedicated to safety. Information typically conveyed during these meetings includes safety performance statistics, lessons learned from recent occurrences, upcoming events that may impact service or safety performance, and updates regarding SMS implementation. Information is requested from drivers during these meetings, which is recorded in meeting minutes. Finally, the Safety Officer posts safety bulletins and flyers on the bulletin boards located in all bus operator and maintenance technician break rooms, advertising safety messages and promoting awareness of safety issues.

• Communicating information on hazards and safety risks relevant to employees' roles and responsibilities throughout the agency: As part of new-hire training, safety policies and procedures are distributed to all employees. Training on these policies and procedures and discusses them during safety talks between supervisors and bus operators and vehicle technicians. For newly emerging issues or safety events at the agency, the Chief Safety Officers issue bulletins or messages to employees that are reinforced by supervisors in one-on-one or group discussions with employees.

• Informing employees of safety actions taken in response to reports submitted through the ESRP: Provides targeted communications to inform employees of safety actions taken in response to reports submitted through the ESRP, including handouts and flyers, safety talks, updates to bulletin boards, and one-on-one discussions between employees and supervisors, including contract operator employees and supervisors.

DEFINING SAFETY GOALS AND OBJECTIVES/OUTCOMES

Setting safety goals and objectives is part of strategic planning and establishing safety policy. Clearly defining safety goals is the first part in creating a safety performance measurement system. Safety goals are general descriptions of a desirable long-term impact. Whereas safety objectives or outcomes are more specific statements that define measurable results.

The safety objectives and outcomes will be measured by defining specific performance metrics, including baseline and targets that we will determine as reasonable.

4.1 DEFINING SAFETY PERFORMANCE MEASURES

We will utilize these basic principles of performance measurement:

- Stakeholder involvement and acceptance
- Focus on agency goals and activities
- Clarity and precision
- Credibility
- Forward-looking measures
- Integration into agency decision-making
- Timely reporting
- Realism of goals and targets

4.2 METRICS

Defining safety performance measures includes the use of safety related metrics. There are some general safety related metrics that can be used to measure transit safety performance. The following is a list of performance target areas and metrics that we will use. These targets will be evaluated over a fiscal year period with a baseline year of Fiscal Year 2021. (7/1/2020 - 6/30/2021)

Injuries	 Number of Injuries (Fixed Route) Number of Injuries (On Demand) Number of Injuries per 100,000 vehicle revenue miles (Fixed Route) Number of Injuries per 100,000 vehicle revenue miles (On Demand) Employee work days lost to injuries per specific time period
Fatalities	 Number of Fatalities (Fixed Route) Number of Fatalities (On Demand) Number of Fatalities per 100,000 vehicle revenue miles (Fixed Route) Number of Fatalities per 100,000 vehicle revenue miles (On Demand) Work-related fatalities per specific time period
Safety Events	 Total Number of Safety Events (Fixed Route) Total Number of Safety Events (On Demand) Number of Safety Events per 100,000 vehicle revenue miles (Fixed Route) Number of Safety Events per 100,000 Vehicle revenue miles (On Demand)
System Reliability	 Mean distance between major mechanical failure (Fixed Route) Mean distance between major mechanical failure (On Demand) Percent of preventative maintenance inspections completed within 10% of scheduled mileage
Safety Culture	 Number of training hours for staff per specified time period Results of employee survey Percentage of staff participating in hazard reporting

4.3 TARGETS

Measuring safety performance metrics includes targets or goal we strive to accomplish. The following lists are the targets we will set for our agency. The Cities of Fargo, ND and Moorhead, MN will officially transmit its targets in writing to the States of North Dakota and Minnesota by July 15 of each year. Where are these numbers coming from?

Mode of Service	Injur	ies (Total)	(Total) Injuries (per 100k VRM)		Employee work
	Fargo	Moorhead	Fargo	Moorhead	days lost
Fixed Route Bus	3	1	.35	.17	10
On Demand/ADA					
Paratransit		2		1.64	

Mode of Service	Fatalities (Total)	Fatalities (per 100k VRM)	Work-related employee fatalities
Fixed Route Bus	0	0	0
On Demand/ADA Paratransit	0	0	0

Mode of Service	Safety Event (Total)	Safety Event (per 100k VRM)
Fixed Route Bus	70	8.09
On Demand/ADA Paratransit	50	40.92

Mean distance between major mechanical failures (Fixed Route)	Mean distance between major mechanical failures (On Demand)	Percentage of PM completed within 10% of scheduled mileage
9000	12000	90

Number of safety training hours for staff	Percentage of staff participating in hazard reporting
20hr/per staff member	10

Safety Performance Target Coordin	nation		
The Accountable Executive shares our PTASP, including safety performance targets, with the ND DOT and MN DOT in our service area each year after its formal adoption by the City of Fargo Commission and the City of Moorhead City Council. Personnel are available to coordinate with ND DOT and MN DOT and the MPO in the selection of ND DOT and MN DOT and MPO safety performance targets upon request.			
Targets Transmitted to the State	ND DOT	Date Targets Transmitted	
Targets Transmitted to the State	MN DOT	Date Targets Transmitted	

4.4 INTEGRATING RESULTS INTO AGENCY DECISION-MAKING PROCESS

We are committed to using the data collected and information learned to inform decision making and instill positive change. The main objective is the continuous improvement of transit system safety. When performance goals are not met, we will to identify why such goals were not met and what actions can be taken to minimize the gap in achieving defined goals. However, when goals are easily achieved, action will be taken to exceed expectations and re-establish a reasonable baseline.

Uses of Performance Results include:

- Focus attention on performance gaps and trigger in-depth investigations of what performance problems exists
- Help make informed resource allocation decisions
- Identify needs for staff training or technical assistance

- Help motivate employees to continue making program improvements
- Support strategic planning efforts by providing baseline information for tracking purposes
- Identify best practices though benchmarking
- Respond to elected officials and the public's demand for accountability

4.5 SUSTAINING A SAFETY MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

In order to sustain a safety management system, we will ensure that particular processes are employed to instill an organizational foundation. Examples of actions taken to sustain SMS include:

- Create measurement-friendly culture
 - All staff, including management, should be actively engaged in creating measurementfriendly culture by promoting performance measurement as a means of continuous improvement. Management will also lead by example and utilize performance metrics in decision making processes
- Build organization capacity
 - Investment in developing skilled human resources capacity is essential to sustaining an SMS. Both technical and managerial skills will be needed for data collection and analysis, and goal setting. We are committed to providing the financial resources required for organizational capacity and maintaining an SMS on a continuous basis.
- Reliability and transparency of performance results
 - The SMS will be able to produce and report results, both good and bad. Performance information should be transparent and made available to all stakeholder. Messengers should be protected to preserve the integrity of the measurement system. The focus should be on opportunities for improvement rather than allocating blame.
- Demonstrate continuous commitment to measurement
 - Visible commitment to using metrics is a long-term initiative. We will demonstrate a commitment to performance measurement by establishing a formal process of reporting performance results, such as including Transit Safety and Performance measurement as a standing agenda item at Transit Board, City Commission and City Council meetings.

SUPPORTING DOCUMENTATION

We will maintain documentation related to the implementation of its SMS; the programs, policies, and procedures used to carry out this PTASP; and the results from its SMS processes and activities for three years after creation. Documentation will be maintained in SharePoint and will be available to the FTA or other Federal or oversight entity upon request.

Additional documentation used to create the PTASP includes the MATBUS Operating Policies and Procedures what document is this?, PTASP Potential Sources of Hazard Information for Bus Transit Operations, PTASP Technical Assistance Center

5.1 DEFINITIONS OF TERMS USED IN THE SAFETY PLAN

We incorporate all of FTA's definitions that are in 49 CFR § 673.5 of the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan regulation.

• Accident means an Event that involves any of the following: A loss of life; a report of a serious injury to a person; a collision of public transportation vehicles; an evacuation for life safety reasons..

• Accountable Executive means a single, identifiable person who has ultimate responsibility for carrying out the Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan of a public transportation agency; responsibility for carrying out the agency's Transit Asset Management Plan; and control or direction over the human and capital resources needed to develop and maintain both the agency's Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan, in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5329(d), and the agency's Transit Asset Management Plan, in accordance with 49 U.S.C. 5326.

• Equivalent Authority means an entity that carries out duties similar to that of a Board of Directors for a recipient or subrecipient of FTA funds under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53, including sufficient authority to review and approve a recipient or subrecipient's Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan.

• Event means any Accident, Incident, or Occurrence.

• Hazard means any real or potential condition that can cause injury, illness, or death; damage to or loss of the facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure of a public transportation system; or damage to the environment.

• Incident means an event that involves any of the following: a personal injury that is not a serious injury; one or more injuries requiring medical transport; or damage to facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure that disrupts the operations of a transit agency.

• Investigation means the process of determining the causal and contributing factors of an accident, incident, or hazard, for the purpose of preventing recurrence and mitigating risk.

• National Public Transportation Safety Plan means the plan to improve the safety of all public transportation systems that receive Federal financial assistance under 49 U.S.C. Chapter 53.

• Occurrence means an Event without any personal injury in which any damage to facilities, equipment, rolling stock, or infrastructure does not disrupt the operations of a transit agency.

• Operator of a public transportation system means a provider of public transportation as defined under 49 U.S.C. 5302.

• Performance measure means an expression based on a quantifiable indicator of performance or condition that is used to establish targets and to assess progress toward meeting the established targets.

• Performance target means a quantifiable level of performance or condition, expressed as a value for the measure, to be achieved within a time period required by the FTA.

• Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan (PTASP or Agency Safety Plan) means the documented comprehensive Agency Safety Plan for a transit agency that is required by 49 U.S.C. 5329 and Part 673.

• Risk means the composite of predicted severity and likelihood of the potential effect of a hazard.

• Risk mitigation means a method or methods to eliminate or reduce the effects of hazards.

• Safety Assurance means processes within a transit agency's Safety Management System that function to ensure the implementation and effectiveness of safety risk mitigation, and to ensure that the transit agency meets or exceeds its safety objectives through the collection, analysis, and assessment of information.

• Safety Management Policy means a transit agency's documented commitment to safety, which defines the transit agency's safety objectives and the accountabilities and responsibilities of its employees in regard to safety.

• Safety Management System (SMS) means the formal, top-down, organization-wide approach to managing safety risk and assuring the effectiveness of a transit agency's safety risk mitigation. SMS includes systematic procedures, practices, and policies for managing risks and hazards.

• Safety performance target means a performance target related to safety management activities.

• Safety Promotion means a combination of training and communication of safety information to support SMS as applied to the transit agency's public transportation system.

• Safety risk Assessment means the formal activity whereby a transit agency determines Safety Risk Management priorities by establishing the significance or value of its safety risks.

• Safety Risk Management (SRM) means a process within a transit agency's Agency Safety Plan for identifying hazards and analyzing, assessing, and mitigating safety risk.

• Serious injury means any injury which: (1) Requires hospitalization for more than 48 hours, commencing within 7 days from the date when the injury was received; (2) Results in a fracture of any bone (except simple fractures of fingers, toes, or noses); (3) Causes severe hemorrhages, nerve, muscle, or tendon damage; (4) Involves any internal organ; or (5) Involves second- or third-degree burns, or any burns affecting more than 5 percent of the body surface.

• Transit agency means an operator of a public transportation system.

• Transit Asset Management Plan (TAMP) means the strategic and systematic practice of procuring, operating, inspecting, maintaining, rehabilitating, and replacing transit capital assets to manage their performance, risks, and costs over their life cycles, for the purpose of providing safe, cost effective, and reliable public transportation, as required by 49 U.S.C. 5326 and 49 CFR Part 625

5.2 COMMONLY USED ACRONYMS

Acronym	Word or Phrase
ADA	American's with Disabilities Act of 1990
ASP	Agency Safety Plan (also referred to as a PTASP in part 673)
CFR	Code of Federal Regulations
ESRP	Employee Safety Reporting Program
FTA	Federal Transit Administration
MATBUS	Fargo-Moorhead Metropolitan Area Transit Public Bus System
MNDOT	Minnesota Department of Transportation
MPO	Metropolitan Planning Organization
NDDOT	North Dakota Department of Transportation
Part 673	49 CFR Part 673 (Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan)
PTASP	Public Transportation Agency Safety Plan
RAM	Risk Assessment Matrix
SMS	Safety Management System
SRM	Safety Risk Management
TAMP	Transit Asset Management Plan
U.S.C.	United States Code
VRM	Vehicle Revenue Miles

Exhibit A

Exhibit B

Risk
Asse
ssme
nt Ma
Itrix

Identified Risk:

		Impac	t of Risk				Pro	bability of F	lisk
Severity	Cost (Thousands)	People	Asset	Environment	Quality	< 1% Very Low (1)	1% - 10% Low (2)	10% - 50% Medium (3)	50
Very High 5	>50	Multiple Fatalities	Major Damage, multiple units	Massive Effect	Complete discontinuation of service	5	10	16	
High 4	25-50	Permanent total disability or one fatality	Major Damage, unit level	Major Effect	Substantial disruption of service	4	8	12	
Medium 3	10-25	Serious injury, hospitalization	Moderate Damage	Moderate Effect	Slight disruption of service	3	o	9	
Low 2	1-10	Slight injury, medical treatment	Minor Damage	Minor Effect	Minimal disruption of service	2	4	6	
Very Low 1	Δ	First aid or no injury	No/Slight Damage	No/Slight Effect	No disruption of service	4	2	3	
Risk Value									

Instructions

Assessed Risk Value:

- AUNA Estimate potential consequences and severity (thought of as what could happen if hazard actually occurred) Estimate likelihood of such consequences occurring (using historical evidence, data and experiences) Multiply the severity for each consequence by the likelihood of that consequence occurring. This is the risk value. Sum the risk values for a total assessed risk. (out of 125)

Prioritized Safety Risk Log

This Prioritized Safety Risk Log is used to organize identified safety risks facing the MATBUS system. The log should be updated frequently to demonstrate continual progress towards risk reduction through mitigation strategies. A timeline is used to highlight projected completion dates.

20	Completed by:	110 - 720 - 730 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110 - 110
1000 D	Last Upd	
	lated:	

7	6	5	4	دى د	2	1	Priority
					~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~ ~		Risk Description
							Planned Mitigation Strategies
							Outcomes of Planned Mitigation Strategies
							Responsible Staff
							Timeline
							Status



Safety Event Reporting Form

Name (optional)	
Date of Event	Event Time
	Event Information
Location	
City	State
Specific Area of Location (if applicab	le)
Event Description	
Name/Contact of Witnesses	
1	
2	
3.	